
NICK NICKERSON AND DONNA NICKERSON 

Appellants Pro Se 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA 

No. DA 15-0332 

HSBC BANK USA, NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION AS TRUSTEE FOR 
WELLS FARGO ASSET SECURITIES 
CORPORATION, MORTGAGE PASS
THROUGH CERTIFICATES, SERIES 
20Q7 -7, its successors in interest and/ or 
assigns, 

Plaintiff and Appellee. 

vs. 

NICK NICKERSON and DONNA 
NICKERSON, 

Defendants and A ellants, 

EMERGENCY MOTION TO 
ENFORCE STAY AND 

SUPPORTING AFFIDAVIT 

DJL"'-i ' .. ·.·. En 
APR 12 2D17 

'Ec[ Smttfi 
CLERK OF THE ,_ 

STATE 0 ?UPRr:.:ME COURT 
F MONIA,f<JA 

Comes now, Nick and Donna Nickerson, the appellants above named 

respectfully request this Supreme Court to enforce the stay of execution as 

rightfully granted in the remand order filed on May 3, 2016. 

"The District Court's judgment shall be held in abeyance, pending remand 
as herein set forth. The stay of execution to which the bank agreed in the 
District Court shall remain in full force and effect while this matter is on 
remand." Ex. 1. 

BACKGROUND 

On January 29, 2016, while this appeal was in progress, HSBC filed a 

motion in the District Court requesting entry of final judgment. We responded and 
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filed a motion to stay with the District Court. On February 19, 2016, the District 

Court issued final judgment. The District Court did not issue any order regarding 

our motion to stay. On May 3, 2016, this Supreme Court remanded the matter to 

the District Court ordering a stay of execution and granting us 120 days to conduct 

discovery and provide testimony and argument regarding prevention of 

performance and why Wells Fargo was wrong to reject our payments (See Ex. 1). 

On August 31, 2016, we requested a 30 day extension which this Court granted. 

On September 30, 2016, we were forced to request another extension (Ex. 2) 

because Wells Fargo refused to provide our records or permit their employees, 

with firsthand knowledge of our payment attempts and Wells Fargo’s refusal of 

them, to provide affidavit testimony. This Court remanded the request for 

extension back to the District Court. The District Court did not respond so we filed 

a motion for extension of time with the District Court on October 21, 2016 (Ex. 3). 

In conjunction with this motion, we produced affidavits which corroborate our 

prevention of performance claims, provide testimony of our attempts to get Wells 

Fargo to accept our tendered payments, and demonstrate why it was wrong for 

Wells Fargo to reject our payments (Ex. 4). Having exhausted all other discovery 

methods available to us, we served Wells Fargo with a subpoena. On November 

21, 2016, the deadline for production, HSBC filed a motion to quash our subpoena. 

Responsive briefing was filed (Ex. 5-6), and on February 2, 2017, the District 
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Court denied our motion for extension, and contrary to the practice of law, granted 

HSBC’s motion to quash. 

“A motion to quash ordinarily ‘should be made by the person from whom 
the documents…are requested,’ and parties lack standing to challenge a 
subpoena issued to nonparties unless they claim a personal right or privilege 
in the material. 9A CHARLES A. WRIGHT & ARTHUR MILLER, FED. 
PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE § 2463:1, see also…(collecting cases).” 
Webster v. NORTHWEST CANCER SPECIALISTS, P.C., No. 3:11-cv-
01543-MO. (D. Oregon, 2012). 
 

The District Court also reaffirmed his summary judgment order without allowing 

us opportunity or a hearing to present all evidence and argument to support our 

prevention of performance claims (Ex.7). On the same day, February 2, 2017, 

despite having a stay in effect, the District Court issued a writ of execution. The 

writ was then filed on March 30, 2017. However, we were not notified until we 

received a Notice of Sheriff’s Sale via the mail on April 5, 2017 (Ex. 8). The 

remand process is still ongoing.  

ARGUMENT 

 We appeal to the Supreme Court for an emergency enforcement of the stay 

as the sale date for the unlawful seizure of our property is set for May 3, 2017. The 

District Court denied our motion for extension of time, reaffirmed summary 

judgment, and issued the writ of execution, because, “The Nickersons make no 

credible claim as to why they have not accomplished their discovery within the 150 

days which the Supreme Court provided.” (Ex. 7) Black’s Law Dictionary, Tenth 
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Edition, defines credible as, “The quality that makes something (as a witness or 

some evidence) worthy of belief.” This statement of the District Court 

demonstrates extreme prejudice and judicial overreach as his role is not as a trier of 

fact in this action. Judge Menahan made the personal determination our testimony 

was not worthy of belief and thwarted our ability to acquire additional 

corroborating testimony and evidence, demonstrating he is unwilling to allow us to 

obtain justice in the Lewis and Clark District Court (Ex. 9). The District Court has 

permitted Ms. Peterman, HSBC and Wells Fargo to conceal evidence and thwart 

discovery and repeatedly violate the Rules of Civil Procedure and laws governing 

this foreclosure action. This prejudice against us and partiality toward HSBC and 

their counsel is unjust, violates our right to a defense, denies our right to due 

process, constitutes an abuse of process, and must end now. 

 By issuing the remand, this Supreme Court has affirmed a genuine issue of 

material fact exists that defeats summary judgment and that we should have the 

opportunity to expound upon it. We have offered proof of prevention of 

performance, but have been thwarted by opposing counsel, HSBC, Wells Fargo 

and the District Court (Ex. 9). We have provided sworn and verified evidence, 

personal testimony, corroborating testimony to support our prevention of 

performance claims, and provided notice our witnesses can provide additional 

testimony (Ex. 2-4). We understood opportunity would be granted to present more 
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testimony at a hearing or a final deadline would be given to turn evidence in for 

consideration. It is unjust to prejudice us for Wells Fargo’s continued obstruction 

of justice, and their concealment of our federally mandated records and the 

testimony of their employees. Wells Fargo and HSBC have failed to provide any 

testimony to refute or contradict our testimony and evidence regarding prevention 

of performance. Further, HSBC has failed to verify the Complaint or verify any 

payment history or default amounts so no admissible testimony is in the record to 

refute our claims of prevention of performance. Therefore, we request the Court 

stay all foreclosure sale proceedings pending resolution of the appeal; compel the 

subpoenaed records to be produced; issue a full remand; or dismiss their complaint 

with prejudice.  

Regarding our credibility  

“On a motion for summary judgment, the Court does not weigh evidence or 
determine truthfulness of allegations; instead, it determines the existence of 
genuine issues of material fact… Direct testimony of the non-movant must 
be believed… (citations omitted).” Sparks v. ALLSTATE MEDICAL 
EQUIPMENT, INC., Case No. 1:14CV00166EJLCWD. (D. Idaho, 2015). 
 

We direct this Supreme Court to the affidavit of former Wells Fargo employee 

Heather Hummel (In Ex. 4).  

“During my 17 plus years with the Bank I never encountered a more honest, 
hardworking, committed and passionate individual as Donna Nickerson. I 
could always count on Donna to keep whatever arrangements she had made 
with me…I believe Donna Nickerson to be an exemplary human being.” 
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 We submit the affidavit of Shanni Barry (Ex. 10), investigator at the office 

of Montana State Auditor, Commissioner of Securities and Insurance - CSI. Shanni 

corroborates the testimony provided to this Supreme Court in our second motion 

for extension of time regarding Wells Fargo’s delays (Ex. 2). Shanni provides an 

email chain dated from April 22, 2016, to September 6, 2016, which confirms CSI 

was working with Wells Fargo on our behalf while Wells Fargo was maliciously 

stalling to allow the remand timeline to expire. 

 Wells Fargo and HSBC have delayed, blocked and thwarted discovery and 

prejudiced our case. Their silence denies them the right to be heard, and the law 

should not punish us for not producing what we do not have. One cannot give what 

one does not have. We did not default on this loan. All admissible evidence in the 

record supports our claims and assertions in their entirety. We were prevented from 

performance and HSBC does not have a lawful right to foreclose on our property.  

Wells Fargo’s prevention of our performance violated Montana law.  

 In February of 2012, Wells Fargo entered into a settlement agreement.  

“Servicing reforms are a requirement of the settlement agreement and are 
intended to implement “real reforms in the mortgage servicing industry to 
end sloppy and fraudulent business practices… and provide new standards 
for communicating with borrowers and other loss mitigation activities.” 
Center for Responsible Lending – Summary of National Mortgage 
Settlement 3-12-12.pdf § I. Servicing Reforms. (https://dojmt.gov/wp-
content/uploads/Summary-of-AG-Settlement-3-12-12.pdf.). 
  

 Wells Fargo was required to appoint a single point of contact.  
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Single Point of Contact (SPOC): Bank/servicer to establish a SPOC for 
communicating with the borrower. The SPOC will be expected to explain 
available options to borrowers, coordinate documents, inform borrower of 
status, ensure borrower is considered for all options and have access to those 
with ability to stop foreclosure proceedings. https://dojmt.gov/wp-
content/uploads/Summary-of-AG-Settlement-3-12-12.pdf 

 
Neither prior to initiating foreclosure, nor at any time in 2012 when we were 

BEGGING Wells Fargo to take our payments, did Wells Fargo appoint a SPOC to 

resolve the alleged default they created to conceal their criminal actions. 

 In addition, Wells Fargo violated its own agreements and Montana law by 

rejecting our payments and then refusing to work with us to resolve the alleged 

default created by their actions. Money refused releases the debtor. 

MCA § 32-9-170. Mortgage Servicer Duties. “In addition to any duties 
imposed by federal law or regulations or the common law, a mortgage 
servicer shall: (1) safeguard and account for any money handled for the 
borrower; (2) follow reasonable and lawful instructions from the borrower; 
(3) act with reasonable skill, care, and diligence;…(8) in the event of a 
delinquency or other act of default on the part of the borrower, act in good 
faith to inform the borrower of the facts concerning the loan and the nature 
and extent of the delinquency or default and, if the borrower replies, 
negotiate with the borrower, subject to the mortgage servicer’s duties and 
obligations under the mortgage servicing contract, if any, to attempt a 
resolution or workout pertaining to the delinquency or default.” 

 
MCA § 32-9-170(8) requires Wells Fargo to negotiate with us in order to workout 

a resolution. It also requires Wells Fargo to adhere to their servicing agreements.  

18. At no time in 2012 with regards to our mortgage did Wells Fargo 
adhere to the Servicing Objectives or Servicer Discretion requirements 
detailed in their Servicing Agreement [Sections 12.1.3 and 12.3.2 – pg. 58] 
with HSBC that required Wells Fargo to “ vary its collection techniques to 
fit individual circumstances, avoiding a fixed collection pattern which may 
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be ineffective in dealing with particular Borrowers,” and “to extend 
appropriate relief to Borrowers who encounter hardship and who are 
cooperative and demonstrate proper regard for their obligations.” We made 
every attempt we could to get Wells Fargo to be responsive and accept our 
payments including fees, but Wells Fargo’s response was consistently, no 
we won’t take your money, and then later it was no we have already put you 
into foreclosure so we can’t take your money or work with you in any way 
because the property is in foreclosure and the trust your note is in 
disqualifies you from any help whatsoever. Wells Fargo made no attempt to 
avoid a fixed collection pattern and made no attempt to extend any relief to 
us, and thus, Wells Fargo violated Montana law. MCA § 32-9-170. 
Mortgage Servicer Duties. Affidavit of Nick Nickerson in Support of Motion 
for Extension of Time to Complete Discovery (Ex. 4) 

 
Wells Fargo wrongly rejected our payments, violated servicing requirements and 

violated Montana law. 

 Further, Wells Fargo’s refusal to allow their employees to provide affidavits 

and refusal to provide our account records violates MCA § 32-9-170(2) “follow 

reasonable and lawful instructions from the borrower.” Our request for our records 

is reasonable, and in accordance with federal law, cannot lawfully be denied 

(RESPA – 12 C.F.R. §§ 1024.36 and 1024.38). 

 Finally, Wells Fargo violated the covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing.  

“The nature and extent of an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing 
is measured in a particular contract by the justifiable expectations of the 
parties. Where one party acts arbitrarily, capriciously, or unreasonably, that 
conduct exceeds the justifiable expectations of the second party. The second 
party then should be compensated for damages resulting from the other’s 
culpable conduct.” Nicholson v. United Pacific Ins. Co., 219 Mont. 32, 710 
P.2d 1342, (1985).  
 
MCA § 28-1-211. Implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. “The 
conduct required by the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing is 
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honesty in fact and the observance of reasonable commercial standards of 
fair dealing in trade.” 

 
Wells Fargo knew we would honor our commitments and were doing everything 

within our power to correct the default caused by their prevention of performance 

actions. Nonetheless, to mask their abusive debt collection and involvement with 

mortgage fraud, they turned a blind eye and deaf ear to us and our pleas. They 

refused to accept our payments, reinstate our loan, and provide us with account 

records or notations to document their actions. Since Wells Fargo acted 

unreasonably by denying our justifiable and lawful expectation that they accept our 

payments and work with us, and Wells Fargo did not observe the reasonable 

commercial standards documented in 1) the servicing agreements set forth in the 

contract that allegedly governs the servicing of our loan, 2) their settlement 

agreement with the State of Montana, and 3) Montana law, Wells Fargo violated 

the covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing and wrongly rejected our payments.  

CONCLUSION 

 HSBC is attempting to execute judgment and steal our home. An emergency 

enforcement of the stay in effect is necessary and should be granted for the reasons 

incorporated herein. 1) The Court ordered a stay on remand and the remand 

process is not fully adjudicated. 2) Issues of material fact exist that defeat summary 

judgment.  3) The Nickersons have presented evidence, testimony and argument 

that defeat summary judgment. 4) Judge Menahan is not the trier of fact and is in 
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error to determine the Nickersons or the evidence presented is not credible without 

the opportunity of due process. 

Wherefore~ we request the Court order HSBC and the Lewis and Clark 

County Sheriff to cease and desist from all foreclosure proceedings. Further, we 

request this Supreme Court enforce the stay pending the outcome of this appeal, or 

in tb.e interest of justice and judicial economy, the Court fully recognize Wells 

Fargo's prevention of our performance was W):'Ong and injurious, and issue a full 

remand, or render judgment in our favor. 

Dated this 12th day of April, 2017
b  

Nick and Penna Nickerson, Appellants Pro Se 

SUPPORTING AFFIDA VlT OF NICK NICKERSON 

I. Nick Nickerson, an Appellant jn the above entitled action deposes and states: 

1. Exhibits 1-10 aTe true and correct copies of the original documents. 

2. I have not contacted opposing counsel as she is unwjll:ing to work with us. 

3. This emergency request is oecessary because the District Court and HSBC have 

ignored the stay, are executing judgment> and causing injury to my family. 

4. I was unaware of the writ and foreclosure sale until April 5, 20 17. 

I swear or affinn under the penalty of perjury that the above is true and correct. 

Nifk Nic~erso~ Appellant Pro Se 

,, 

. 
Dated this 12th day of April, 20 17. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that I have caused a tnte and accurate copy of the foregoing 
EMERGENCY MOTION TO STAY AND SUPPORTING AFFIDAVIT to be 
mailed or hand delivered to: 

Erika R. Petennan, Attorney for Appellee 
RCO Legal, P.S. 

 
 

 

 

Dated this 11111 day of April, 2 0 1 7. 
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